2008

Lonnie Paulos et al v. All My Sons Moving and Storage; Sand B Storage, John Siddoway, John Does 1 through 10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Did Trial Court Exceed or Abuse Its Discretion In Dismissing the Action?

Standard of review: The Court of Appeals, in deciding whether a dismissal of the action was appropriate, can review whether the Trial Court erred in applying the relevant law, and can reach the merits of the underlying judgment from which relief was sought to determine whether the District Court abused it's discretion.

Appeal Preservation: Appellant raised this issue in Motion to Set Aside (R. 474-475)

II. Did Trial Court Exceed or Abuse Its Discretion In Denying the Motion To Set Aside?

Standard of Review: The Court of Appeals reviews the Trial Court's decision to deny a Motion to Dismiss under an abuse of discretion standard. Further, the Court of Appeals will disturb a Trial Court's ruling if there has been an error in regard to the law.

Appeal Preservation: Appellant raised this issue in Motion to Set Aside. (R. 474-475)

III. Did Trial Court Err or Abuse Its Discretion In Denying the Motion For A New Trial?

Standard of Review: The Court of Appeals reviews the denial of a Motion for a New Trial under an abuse of discretion standard. Further, the Court of Appeals will disturb a Trial Court's ruling if there has been an error in regard to the law.

Appeal Preservation: Appellant raised this issue in Motion for a New Trial. (R. 594-595)

IV. Did Trial Court Err or Abuse Its Discretion in Awarding Attorney's Fees?

Standard of Review: The Court of Appeals reviews the Trial Court's decision to award attorney's fees as a question of law that is reviewed for correctness and under an abuse of discretion standard as to the amount awarded.

Appeal Preservation: Appellant raised this issue in Objection to Attorney's

Fees; Motion to Set Aside and in Motion for a New Trial (R. 474-475 & 594-595)

STATUTES AND RULES

U.C.A. 78-27-56(1)

(1) In civil actions, the court shall award reasonable attorney's fees to a prevailing party if the court determines that the action or defense to the action was without merit and not brought or asserted in good faith

Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

(b) Mistakes; Inadvertence; Excusable Neglect; Newly Discovered Evidence; Fraud, etc. On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); (3) fraud (whether heretofore denominated intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation or other misconduct of an adverse party; (4) the judgment is void; (5) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application; or (6) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment. The motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for reasons (1), (2), or (3), not more than 3 months after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken. A motion under this Subdivision (b) does not affect the finality of a judgment or suspend its operation. This rule does not limit the power of a court to entertain an independent action to relieve a party from a judgment, order or proceeding or to set aside a judgment for fraud upon the court. The procedure for obtaining any relief from a judgment shall be by motion as prescribed in these rules or by an independent action.

Rule 59(a)(7) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

(a) Grounds. Subject to the provisions of Rule 61, a new trial may be granted to all or any of the parties and one all or part of the issues, for any of the following causes; provided, however, that on a motion for a new trial in an action tried without a jury, the court may open the judgment if one has been entered, take additional testimony, amend findings of fact and conclusions of law or make new findings and conclusions, and direct the entry of a new judgment:

. . . .

(7) Error in law

Rule 41(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

(b) Involuntary Dismissal; For failure of the plaintiff to prosecute or to comply with these rules or any order of court, a Defendant may move for dismissal of an action or of any claim against him

Utah Supreme Court Rules of Professional Practice, Chapter 23, Standards of Professionalism and Civility

Preamble. A lawyer's conduct should be characterized at all times by personal courtesy and professional integrity in the fullest sense of those terms. In fulfilling a duty to represent a client vigorously as lawyers, we must be mindful of our obligations to the administration of justice, which is a truth-seeking process designed to resolve human and societal problems in a rational, peaceful, and efficient manner. We must remain committed to the rule of law as the foundation for a just and peaceful society.

. . . .

We expect judges and lawyers will make mutual and firm commitments to these standards.

Paragraph 14. Lawyers shall advise their clients that they reserve the right to determine whether to grant accommodations to other counsel in all

matters not directly affecting the merits of the cause or prejudicing the client's rights, such as extensions of time, continuances, adjournments, and admissions of facts.

Paragraph 15. If other counsel requires a scheduling change, lawyers shall cooperate in making any reasonable adjustments.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Nature of the Case: The Plaintiff filed an action against the Defendants alleging theft and conversion of Plaintiff's personal property with damages exceeding \$300,000.00. A trial was scheduled for October 15-17, 2007 and then continued to November 5-7, 2008. Plaintiff and his counsel believed the trial started on November 6, 2007 and did not appear on November 5, 2007. The trial Court dismissed the action with prejudice and granted attorneys fees.

Course of Proceedings: The Plaintiffs filed their complaint on March 3, 2006. (R. 1-13). The Court signed an Amended Attorney Planning Meeting Report and Scheduling Order on May 31, 2006. (R. 49-52). Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 173-175) on January 10, 2007, which was denied by the Court on June 26, 2007. (R. 338-344). After all time periods had expired under said Scheduling Order, the Court scheduled a jury trial for October 15-17, 2007. Due to a conflict with the Utah Senior Games wherein Plaintiff's counsel was a participant, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Continue the Trial on June 27, 2007. (R. 345-346).

On August 20, 2007 a hearing was held with the Court and Plaintiff's Motion to Continue was granted without objection and a jury trial was scheduled on the Court's docket sheet (Addendum A) for November 5, 6 & 8, 2007 and then corrected on the docket sheet to November 5, 6 & 7, 2007. No written notices as to the dates of the trial were sent by either the Court or any counsel.

The three-day trial began on Monday, November 5, 2007, but neither the Plaintiff nor his counsel were present and the Court dismissed the action with prejudice and awarded attorneys fees. (T. 3-4). An Order of dismissal was signed November 7, 2007; (R. 460-471) Plaintiff filed on November 8, 2008 a Motion to Set Aside the Order of Dismissal and Memorandum in support thereof (R. 474-475) and Objections to proposed orders and attorneys fees. (R. 512-513). Plaintiff also filed Objections to S&B's attorney's fees on November 15, 2007. (R. 568-569). On January 8, 2008 the Court denied Plaintiff's Motion to Set Aside and Objections to attorney's fees and signed the two judgments for attorney's fees. (R. 582-589). Plaintiff then filed a Motion for a New Trial and Memorandum in support thereof on January 11, 2008 (R. 594-615) which was denied on the 26th of February, 2008. Plaintiff filed his appeal on February 29th, 2008.

Disposition Below: The Trial Court dismissed the action with prejudice and entered two judgments for attorney's fees that greatly exceeded the amounts awarded at

the trial on November 5, 2008. The Trial Court made no findings and further denied the Motion to Set Aside and the Motion for a New Trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The Plaintiffs filed an action against the Defendants for theft and conversion of over \$300,000.00 worth of personal property belonging to the Plaintiffs. After the completion of all discovery and applicable cut-off dates the matter was ready for trial. (R. 1-13).

2. On the 18th day of June, 2007, a Scheduling Conference was held before the Court wherein a Jury Trial was scheduled for October 15, 16 and 17, 2007. (R. 336-337).

3. On the 27th day of June, 2007, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Continue the Trial due to a conflict of Plaintiff's counsel participating in the Utah Senior Games. (R.345-346).

4. The Motion to Continue was heard on the 20th day of August, 2007, and at said hearing the Court suggested alternative dates for the trial. At said hearing Randy Ludlow, counsel for the Defendants, S & B Storage, indicated he had a conflict with November 5, 6 and 7 since he was going with his wife to Chicago on the 4th, 5th and 6th of November, 2007. However, Mr. Ludlow withdrew his objection. Thereafter, a discussion was held between the Court and the attorneys in regard to settling the case and the potential litigation against the insurance company. The hearing concluded without any specific

statements made as to the exact dates of the trial although, based upon Mr Ludlow's withdrawal of his objection to the dates of November 5, 6 and 7, 2007, it was apparently assumed by the Court and the attorneys that the trial was rescheduled for November 5, 6 and 7, 2007. (R. 375).

5. A Minute Entry was entered on the docket on the 20th of August, 2007 scheduling a Jury Trial for November 5th, November 7th and November 8th. 2007. Said Minute Entry was corrected on said date and an entry was made that the Jury Trial was scheduled for November 5th, 6th and 7th, 2007. (Addendum A).

6. Neither the Court nor any of the attorneys prepared a Notice of the Trial, no order was prepared or served in regard to the new trial date, nor was a notice served on any of the parties through their attorneys as to the new trial date.

7. Plaintiff's counsel was under the impression that the Trial was scheduled for November 6th, 7th and 8th, 2007 because he already had a different trial scheduled for the 5th of November, 2007 written in his calendar. He wrote the dates of November 6, 7 & 8, 2007 on his calendar for the trial in the above matter. Plaintiff's counsel's calendar is attached as Exhibit "B" to his affidavit. (Addendum B). Immediately after the hearing held on the 20th of August 2007, Plaintiff's counsel dictated a letter, which was sent to his client, Lonnie Paulos, on the 22nd of August 2007 indicating that the trial was scheduled for November 6th, 7th, and 8th, 2007. A copy of the letter is attached as Exhibit "H" to his

affidavit. (Addendum B).

8. Plaintiff's counsel's trial scheduled for Monday, November 5, 2007, was before the Honorable Thomas Kay in the Second Judicial District Court in Bountiful, Utah, and a copy of that Notice of Trial was attached as Exhibit "C" to his affidavit. (Addendum B).

9. Even though discovery had been closed for some time, Plaintiff's counsel accommodated the request of Defendant, All My Sons', to conduct two additional depositions that were held in August and September 2007. (R. 347-349, 366-368). In the last part of October 2007, counsel for the Defendant, All My Sons, requested another accommodation in regard to one of its witnesses, an investigating police officer, who could not attend the trial. Again, Plaintiff's counsel agreed to allow said witness' deposition to be admitted at the trial. Conversely, when Plaintiff's counsel requested a similar accommodation in regard to the potential non-appearance at trial of one of Plaintiff's witnesses, Rhonda Jones, Defendants' counsel refused. On the 24th of October, 2007, Plaintiff's counsel, on behalf of the Plaintiff, filed a Motion to Admit the Deposition of Rhonda Jones along with a Memorandum in Support Thereof, the Affidavit of Richard S. Nemelka, and a proposed Order. (R. 411-418). All of said pleadings indicated that the trial was scheduled for November 6th through 8th of 2007 and were mailed to the attorneys for both Defendants.

10. On the 29th of October 2007, the Court signed an Order (R. 417-418) to admit

the Deposition of Rhonda Jones and said Order specifically stated, in paragraph 1, “That the deposition of Rhonda Jones on April 30, 2007, shall be admitted into evidence to be *used during the trial scheduled for November 6-8, 2007, in the above-entitled matter.*” (Addendum C)(emphasis added).

11. Plaintiff’s counsel prepared Subpoenas and served the same upon witnesses all indicating that the trial was scheduled to begin on the 6th of November 2007. A copy of one Subpoena was attached as Exhibit “F” to his affidavit. (Addendum B)

12. Stephen D. Spencer, counsel for the Defendant, All My Sons Moving and Storage, also filed various Subpoenas indicating that the trial was scheduled for November 6th and 7th of 2007. Said pleadings are attached as Exhibit “G” to the above referenced affidavit. (R. 497-498 and Addendum B).

13. That on or about the 2nd of November 2007, Plaintiff’s counsel had a conversation with Stephen D. Spencer, attorney for the Defendant, All My Sons Moving and Storage, where it was discussed whether or not the trial was a Jury Trial or a Bench Trial. Plaintiff’s counsel specifically stated to Mr. Spencer that he believed it was a Bench Trial and that the Trial was to begin on Tuesday, the 6th of November 2007. Mr. Spencer indicated that he thought the Trial was scheduled for Monday, the 5th of November, 2007; however, Plaintiff’s counsel specifically stated to Mr. Spencer that was inaccurate and, in fact, the Trial was scheduled to begin on Tuesday, the 6th of November,

2007 and would not have been scheduled on the 5th of November, 2007 for the reason that Plaintiff's counsel had to be in attendance at another trial before Judge Kay in the Second District Court which began at 8:30 a.m. on the 5th of November, 2007. (R. 493-494 and Addendum B). Plaintiff's counsel did not review Mr. Spencer's trial brief and no one from his office advised him that Mr. Spencer had called saying the trial was on the 5th.

14. Later, on the 2nd of November 2007, in response to the conversation with Mr. Spencer, Plaintiff's counsel had a conversation with Lyn MacLeod, Judge Henroid's Clerk. The conversation concerned whether the Trial was a jury or bench trial, wherein it was agreed that the Trial was a Bench Trial since no request had ever been made for a jury trial and no fee had been paid. Apparently, the Court had made a mistake in scheduling a jury trial. At the beginning of said conversation between Plaintiff's counsel and Lyn MacLeod, Plaintiff's counsel indicated that he was calling in regard to the Paulos Trial that was scheduled for next Tuesday (November 6, 2007) and that there was a question as to whether or not the trial was a Jury Trial or a Bench Trial. Lyn MacLeod did not correct Plaintiff's counsel as to whether or not the trial was to begin on Tuesday, the 6th of November and Plaintiff's counsel continued to believe that the trial was scheduled to begin on the 6th of November, 2007. (R. 476-498 and Addendum B).

15. Plaintiff's counsel, on or about the 30th of October 2007, was advised that Judge Henroid has signed the Order to admit the Deposition of Rhonda Jones that, again,

indicated that the trial was scheduled for November 6-8, 2007. This information was conveyed to Plaintiff on said date. A copy of the proposed Order to admit was sent to the Plaintiff on the 23rd of October 2007 along with the Motion and affidavit of his counsel. Plaintiff, Lonnie Paulos relied upon the Order of the Court dated October 29, 2008, the Motion and Affidavit referred to above, and the correspondence and communications he received from his attorney in believing that the trial would start on November 6, 2007 and not on the 5th. (Affidavit of Lonnie Paulos R. 521-523).

16. The Plaintiff, Lonnie Paulos, was always of the understanding that the trial was scheduled to begin on the 6th of November 2007 and, in fact, had re-arranged his work schedule so that he could be in Utah on the evening of November 5, 2007. Mr. Paulos had scheduled his airline travel to leave Houston, Texas, in the afternoon of November 5, 2007. He was on his way to the airport when Plaintiff's counsel contacted him at approximately 12:30 p.m. on the 5th of November 2007, and indicated to Mr. Paulos that the Court had dismissed the action due to their non-appearance that morning and there would not be a Trial on the 6th and 7th. Based thereon, Mr. Paulos did not use his purchased ticket to fly to Salt Lake. (R.521-523).

17. Plaintiff's counsel had also scheduled all of Plaintiffs' witnesses to appear on Tuesday, the 6th of November 2007. (Addendum B).

18. Plaintiff's counsel's office also arranged for an interpreter to be present on

Tuesday, the 6th of November 2007, for one of Plaintiffs' witnesses. Plaintiff's counsel's office also arranged to have Plaintiff's counsel's wife to be present on the 6th of November 2007 to read the deposition of Ronda Jones. (Affidavit of Jayne Nemelka R. 524-526).

19. Plaintiff's counsel had numerous conversations with his client, Lonnie Paulos, and witnesses in preparation for the trial and advised all witnesses that the trial was scheduled to begin on the 6th of November 2007. (Addendum B).

20. In August 2007 and the few months prior to the trial in November 2007, Plaintiff's counsel had other problems in regard to his short-term memory. His mistake in assuming on the 20th of August 2007, that the trial was scheduled for November 6th, 7th and 8th 2007 was an honest mistake. Plaintiff's counsel did not intentionally write down the wrong dates on his calendar or intentionally not appear at the trial on the 5th of November 2007 since he was involved in another trial on said date and time. (Addendum B).

22. The Plaintiff, Lonnie Paulos received a letter dated August 22, 2007 from his counsel indicating the trial was scheduled for November 6, 7 & 8, 2007. During the time period from August 20, 2007 through November 5, 2007, Plaintiff had numerous conversations with his counsel and witnesses and it was always understood that the trial would begin on November 6, 2007. (R.521-523).

23. Although counsel for both Defendants knew around October 24, 2007 that Plaintiff and Plaintiff's counsel believed that the trial was starting on November 6, 2007, neither counsel contacted Plaintiff's counsel nor the Court in regard to the known mistake. Further, the Court also knew on October 29th, 2007 when it signed the Order that Plaintiff and Plaintiff's counsel believed the trial was November 6-8, 2007, but the Court also did not inform Plaintiff's counsel of his apparent mistake. Then at the trial on November 5, 2007, knowing that Plaintiff's counsel was involved in another trial, and that he was not going to be at the trial, both counsel for the Defendants requested that the Court dismiss the action with prejudice and award them attorney's fees, which the Court did.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Abused or Exceeded Its Discretion In Dismissing the Action.

The Plaintiff respectfully argues that the Trial Court abused its discretion in dismissing the action with prejudice when a more reasonable option would have been to start the trial the next day and assess attorney's fees for the appearances on the 5th of November 2007.

II. The Trial Court Abused or Exceeded Its Discretion In Failing to Grant the Motion to Set Aside.

The Plaintiff met all of the requirements of Rule 60(b)(1) to show an honest mistake had been made justifying setting aside the Order of dismissal and award of attorney's fees. Further, under Rule 60(b)(6) the fact that counsel for both Defendants' knew that Plaintiff's counsel had made a mistake as to the correct trial date and failed to inform the court or Plaintiff's counsel constitutes another reason justifying relief from the Order of dismissal and award of fees. The Motion to Set Aside should have been granted.

III. The Trial Court Erred or Abused Its Discretion in Failing to Grant the Motion for a New Trial.

The Trial Court erred in denying the Motion for a New Trial when there were irregularities in the proceedings and scheduling of the trial. Further, it was an abuse of discretion to deny said Motion when the Court knew that a mistake had been made prior to the trial and that counsel for the Plaintiff was in another trial and that there were still two days left calendared for the trial which would not have prevented the Plaintiff from having a trial.

IV. The Trial Court Erred and Abused Its Discretion in Awarding Defendants All of Their Attorney's Fees.

The Trial Court erred when it awarded the Defendants all of their attorneys' fees upon granting the dismissal, when the Defendants would not have been entitled to any attorneys' fees under U.C.A. 78-27-56 had they prevailed at the trial. The trial court erred when it made no findings as to why it awarded all of Defendants' attorney's fees. At the time of trial, the Defendants only requested fees for their attorney's preparation and appearances at the trial. Further, the trial could have been held the next two days to eliminate the loss of preparation. Lastly, the trial court found that the action was not without merit.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Abused or Exceeded Its Discretion in Dismissing the Action.

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