2008

Lonnie Paulos; Advanced Orthopedics and Sports Medicine, L.L.C. v. All My Sons : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs' appeal fails for three reasons: this court lacks jurisdiction, Plaintiffs have failed to marshal the evidence, and the trial court was within its discretion. Three of Plaintiffs' four issues on appeal are not properly before the Court because Plaintiffs' motion for a new trial was a successive post-judgment motion that did not toll the time to appeal under the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Also,

Plaintiffs have failed to marshal the evidence supporting the trial court's orders. The failure of the appealing party to marshal the evidence means that a trial court must conclude that the trial court's orders are supported by substantial evidence and not an abuse of discretion. Finally, the trial court acted within its discretion in all of its orders. Plaintiffs' conduct in pursuing the litigation manifested delay and reckless scheduling practices, as well as a lack of reasonable care in ascertaining the correct date for trial. Balanced against prejudice to Defendants, it is clear that the trial court was within its discretion in dismissing the action, denying Plaintiffs' motions, and awarding attorney fees.

ARGUMENT

- I. THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO HEAR THE APPEALS OF THE LOWER COURT'S ORDER DISMISSING THE ACTION, THE DENIAL OF PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AND THE AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES; THE COURT SHOULD DISMISS THE APPEAL OF THESE ISSUES.

Defendants ask the Court to dismiss issues I, III, and IV for lack of jurisdiction.² Under the Utah Rules of Appellate

2. Defendants note that they filed a motion for summary disposition with substantially similar arguments on April 1, 2008. While the Court denied Defendant's motion in an order dated April 15, 2008, the order provided no analysis for why the motion was denied. Defendants submit that the most likely reason

Procedure, an order may only be appealed if it is a final order, Utah R. App. P. 3, and if a notice of appeal is filed within thirty days of the date of the order. Utah R. App. P. 4. The appellate court has no jurisdiction to review an order that has not been timely appealed. Serrato v. Utah Transit Auth., 2000 UT App. 299, ¶ 7, 13 P.3d 616. A subsequent appealable order is separate and does not give the court jurisdiction to decide the merits of previous final orders. See Franklin Covey Client Sales v. Melvin, 2000 UT App. 110, ¶19, 2 P.3d 451 (holding that an appeal on a denial of a motion to set aside under 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure does not give the court jurisdiction to reach the merits of the underlying judgment).

The time for a judgment that includes attorney fees and costs runs from the day a judgment for a sum certain has been entered. Promax Development Corp. v. Raile, 2000 UT 4, ¶15, 998 P.2d 254. Therefore, an appeal from the order of dismissal and

for the denial was that the motion purported to dispose of less than all the issues appealed by Plaintiff, and so would be formally insufficient under Rule 10 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. At any rate, the denial does not appear to analyze the merits of Defendants' motion, and so the jurisdiction of issues I, III, and IV should be reviewed by this Court.

the judgments for attorney fees and costs must have been filed by February 8, 2008, unless the time was tolled by the appropriate filing of one of five post-judgment motions: a Rule 24 or 59 motion for a new trial, a 50(b) motion for judgment, a rule 59 motion to amend the judgment, or a Rule 52 motion to amend or make additional findings of fact. Utah R. App. P. 4(b). If this motion is improperly brought, it does not toll the time for appeal. Fackrell v. Fackrell, 740 P.2d 1318, 1319 (Utah 1987).

Plaintiffs' Rule 59 motion was an improper second post-judgment motion and so does not toll the time for filing an appeal under Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Once a post-judgment motion has been filed and decided by the trial court, a second post-judgment motion for relief is improper and so does not toll the time for appeal. Amica Mut. Ins. Co. v. Schettler, 768 P.2d 950, 969 (Utah App. 1989). This is a well-settled rule, recognized by federal and state courts. See, e.g., Venable v. Haislip, 721 F.2d 297, 299 (10th Cir. 1983); Bank Trust Co. v. Griffin, 963 So. 2d 106, 109 (Ala. 2007); Wenzoski v. Central Banking System, Inc., 736 P.2d 753 (Cal. 1987); Sears v. Sears, 422 N.E.2d 610, 612 (Ill. App. 1981); Mollett v. Trustmark Ins. Co., 134 S.W.3d 621, 623 (Ky. Ct. App. 2003); State ex rel. Douglas v. Bible Baptist Church of Lincoln, 353 N.W.2d 20 (Neb. 1984); Kaufman v. Oregonian Pub.

Co., 245 P.2d 237 (Or. 1952); Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 602 S.E.2d 772 (S.C. 2004); Gassaway v. Patty, 604 S.W.2d 60 (Tenn. App. Ct. 1980).

In this case, Plaintiffs filed a 60(b) motion to set aside the judgment on November 8, 2007. The filing and denial of this motion prevented any successive post-judgment motions from tolling the time for appeal. Thus, the Rule 59 motion for a new trial or to amend the judgment did not toll the time for appeal; the deadline for filing a notice of appeal challenging the order of November 7, 2007 and the judgment for attorney fees and costs that was entered by the Court clerk on January 9, 2008 was February 8, 2008.³

Plaintiffs have argued previously that the rule against successive post-judgment motions does not apply to this case because Plaintiffs' 60(b) motion was filed before the judgment date of January 8, 2008. This argument misses the point of the rule. The purpose of the rule against successive post-judgment motions is to promote the finality of judgments and to force a litigant to present all of its arguments at once. Watkiss &

³ A motion to set aside the order under Rule 60(b) does not toll the time for filing an appeal. Utah R. App. P. 4(b); Watkiss & Campbell v. FOA & SON, 808 P.2d 1061, 1068 (Utah 1991) (Stewart, J., Dissenting).

Campbell v. FOA & Sons, 808 P.2d 1061, 1064 (Utah 1991); Maverik Country Stores v. Industrial Commission, 860 P.2d 944, 951 nn.

9-10 (Utah App. 1993); Amica, 768 P.2d at 969. There is no basis for allowing a litigant to engage in tactics after the decision but before the entry of judgment when those same tactics are prohibited after the entry of judgment. There is nothing about a written entry under Rule 58A that would change the policy basis behind the rule. Under Plaintiffs' interpretation, any litigant could make two motions for relief from the judgment so long as they file one of them before the written entry of judgment.

Allowing for jurisdiction in this case would open a gaping loophole in the policy against successive post-judgment motions.

Also, Plaintiffs' argument is incorrect on its facts; Plaintiffs' Rule 60(b) motion was filed subsequent to judgment in this case. Plaintiffs' 60(b) motion was filed after the order of November 7, 2007, which was a judgment for purposes of Rule 54. An order is final and appealable if the order determines the substantive rights of the parties and terminates the litigation.

Code v. Utah Dept. of Health, 2006 UT App. 113, ¶3, 133 P.3d 438; Harris v. IES Assocs., 2003 UT App. 112, ¶56, 69 P.3d 297.

The order of November 7 struck the pleadings of the Plaintiffs, dismissed the action with prejudice, and ordered Plaintiffs to pay Defendants' attorney's fees. The order was therefore a final determination of the substantive rights of the parties and a

declaration of the endpoint of the litigation. While the effective date of the judgment is January 9 for reasons of judicial economy, see Promax, 2000 UT 4, at ¶15, it is obvious that Plaintiffs could have appealed from the order of November 7. Hence, the 60(b) motion filed November 8 is a post-judgment motion.

Third, whether a motion is a post-judgment motion is determined by the relief requested, not by the time at which the motion was filed. A post-judgment motion, of which Rule 59 and 60(b) are two classic examples, seeks relief from a final judgment or order of the court. Black's Law Dictionary does not define a post-judgment motion, but defines its synonym, post-trial motion, as a "[g]eneric term to describe those motions which are permitted after trial such as motion for new trial and motion for relief from judgment." Black's Law Dictionary 809 (Abr. 6th ed. 1991). Thus, even if Rule 60(b) were read to allow motions to set aside an interlocutory order (as Plaintiffs have suggested in the past), Plaintiffs' 60(b) motion does not ask for that type of relief. Plaintiffs sought relief not from an interlocutory order, but from an order disposing of the litigation. Whether that order was filed before or after the judgment for attorney fees was entered, the motion is a post-judgment motion in nature.

Fourth, attempting to distinguish this case from Amica by saying the motions were made under different rules of civil procedure also fails to apprehend the policy behind the rule prohibiting successive post-judgment motions. A party must bring forward all of its claims for relief at once. As this Court has noted in a different context, a party is "entitled to 'one bite of the apple' That opportunity cannot be expanded into a multi-course buffet by such devices as reconsiderations or supplemental filings after a motion for review has been denied" Ring v. Industrial Commission, 744 P.2d 602, 604 (Utah App. 1987).

Finally, the law-of-the-case doctrine would independently defeat jurisdiction in this case. The law-of-the-case doctrine dictates that the parties should avoid relitigating the same proposition in the same case. Richardson v. Grand Central Corp., 572 P.2d 395, 397 (Utah 1977). A motion that seeks to relitigate a proposition already ruled upon by the same court is improper. Amica, 768 P.2d at 969. In the present case, Plaintiffs' motion for a new trial is nearly identical in substance to its motion to set aside the judgment. Both motions rest mainly on one argument: that the acts of Plaintiffs' Attorney were reasonable and an "honest mistake" (compare Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Support of its Motion for New Trial ¶¶3-8 (R.597-602), with

Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Set Aside
¶¶6-8 (R.516-17).⁴

Plaintiffs clearly had an opportunity to make any and all arguments attacking the judgment. That they failed to do so is not grounds for making these arguments later. This is clearly a case where Plaintiffs' successive post-judgment motions have "unjustifiably prolong[ed] the life of a lawsuit." Amica, 768 P.2d at 969. Plaintiffs' Rule 59 motion is therefore improper, meaning it did not toll the time for appeal, and the ruling denying it should not be reviewable. This Court should dismiss the Plaintiffs' appeals of the order to dismiss, the denial of

4. To the extent there are other arguments in the Rule 59 motion that are not in the Rule 60(b) motion, it is further proof that Plaintiffs should have brought a motion for a new trial in the first instance. The grounds for relief are much broader in a Rule 59 motion than in a Rule 60(b), likely broad enough to encompass any basis for relief under Rule 60(b). Hence, the two rules work in tandem: a motion for new trial can offer relief for a broad range of reasons; however, it is only available for ten days after the entry of the judgment. Rule 60(b) allows relief for fewer reasons, but it is available for three months after the judgment or even longer, depending on the grounds for setting aside the judgment.

the motion for a new trial, and the award of attorney fees for lack of jurisdiction.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE LOWER COURT'S ORDER DISMISSING THE ACTION, THE DENIAL OF PLAINTIFFS' MOTION TO SET ASIDE, THE DENIAL OF PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL, AND THE AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES BECAUSE PLAINTIFFS HAVE FAILED TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING.

Plaintiffs have failed to marshal the evidence supporting the trial court's ruling as required by Rule 24(a)(9) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Rule 24(a)(9) requires that "a party challenging a fact finding must first marshal all record evidence that supports the challenged finding." This standard applies not only to an explicit finding of fact, but also to the review of a fact-sensitive determination of a lower court that is reviewed for abuse of discretion. United Park v. Stichting Mayflower, 2006 UT 35, ¶ 25, 140 P.3d 1200; Chen v. Stewart, 2004 UT 82, ¶ 20, 100 P.3d 1177. To properly marshal the evidence, a party is required to

"temporarily remove its own prejudices and fully embrace the adversary's position"; he or she must play the "devil's advocate." In so doing, appellants must present the evidence in a light most favorable to the trial court and not attempt to construe the evidence in a light favorable to their case.

Chen, 2004 UT 82, at ¶ 78. If a party fails to marshal the evidence, the appellate court assumes that the evidence supports the trial court's findings and has grounds to affirm the trial court's findings on that basis. Id. at ¶ 80.

Plaintiffs' brief does not meet this requirement with respect to any of the issues it appeals. Plaintiffs' brief does not attempt to list the facts underlying the lower court's orders. Plaintiffs' brief does not even include the orders it appeals from, as required by Rule 24(a)(11)(C).

Plaintiffs have also failed to request the transcript for the hearing of August 20, 2007, in spite of referring to this hearing several times in its brief. An appellant is responsible to obtain all transcripts that are relevant to a fact-intensive determination by a lower court. Utah R. App. P. 11(e)(2). The failure of an appellant to request these transcripts leaves the Court with no choice but to conclude that the record supports the lower court's determination. See Horton v. Gem State Mut. of Utah, 794 P.2d 847, 849 (Utah App. 1990).

These omissions leave Defendants and the Court "to bear the expense and time of performing the critical task of marshaling the evidence. This is unfair, inefficient, and unacceptable." United Park, 2006 UT 35, at 26. This Court should therefore rely on Plaintiffs' failure to marshal to affirm the lower court's rulings. Because of this unfairness, the Court should also award Defendants' reasonable attorney fees for failure to adequately brief as per State v. Sloan, 2003 UT App. 170, 72 P.3d 138.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DISMISSING THE ACTION, DENYING PLAINTIFFS' MOTION TO SET ASIDE,

DENYING PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL, OR IN AWARDING ATTORNEY FEES.

A. *The trial court's dismissal of the action and its denial of the motion for a new trial was within its discretion.*

The trial court's dismissal for failure to prosecute is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Rohan, 2002 UT 109 at ¶ 28. In addition, the question of whether the denial of Plaintiffs' motion for a new trial constituted abuse of discretion is reviewed by looking at whether the order that the Plaintiffs sought to retry under rule 59 constituted an abuse of discretion itself. See Child v. Gonda, 972 P.2d 425, 429-30 (Utah 1999) Defendants will therefore examine these issues in tandem.

A court has wide discretion to dismiss an action for failure to prosecute "if a party fails to move forward according to the rules and the directions of the court, without justifiable excuse." Westinghouse Electric Supply Co. v. Paul W. Larsen Contractor, Inc., 544 P.2d 876, 878-79 (Utah 1975). "The party challenging the dismissal bears the burden of offering a reasonable excuse for his or her lack of diligence." Rohan, 2002 UT 109 at ¶28. In reviewing whether the trial court has abused its discretion in dismissing an action for failure to prosecute, the appellate court should consider the following factors: (1) the conduct of both parties; (2) the opportunity each party has had to move the case forward; (3) what each of the parties has

done to move the case forward; (4) what difficulty or prejudice may have been caused to the other side; and (5) most important, whether injustice may result from the dismissal." Id.

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